

Peroxins:

A Proliferation Romance amongst Supposition and Disposition

Cécile Brocard* • Andreas Hartig

Max F. Perutz Laboratories, University of Vienna, Center of Molecular Biology, Dr. Bohrgasse 9, 1030 Vienna, Austria Corresponding author: * Cecile.Brocard@univie.ac.at

ABSTRACT

Since the discovery of peroxisomes over half a century ago, the fundamental mechanism of their biogenesis has remained a matter of debate. The outcome of recent investigations focusing on macromolecular associations coupled with peroxisome formation offers new insight for understanding this process. Peroxisome biogenesis includes the induction and import of membrane and matrix proteins, as well as proliferation and inheritance. When they become superfluous, peroxisomes are rapidly and selectively degraded via pexophagy. Many of the crucial components have been identified in genetic screens. The yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* presents the advantage of being able to grow under conditions in which peroxisomes do not seem necessary such as fermentative growth on glucose media. Physiologically, the survival of a few peroxisomes possibly enables the cell to rapidly respond to new environmental conditions that require the full peroxisomal function. Accordingly, the expression of genes encoding various peroxisomal proteins is repressed by glucose and induced by the presence of fatty acids in the culture medium. Peroxisome biogenesis is controlled by a set of proteins, the peroxins. Most peroxins were originally identified in yeast species. This review aims to discuss the involvement of a range of peroxins in the process of proliferation which is essential to adapt the number of peroxisomes to the cellular needs. Among the known participants, PEX11 is the most prominent and best-studied and its homologues PEX25 and PEX27 have been involved, as well. We also consider the role of the recently identified yeast peroxins namely, PEX28, PEX29, PEX30, PEX31 and PEX32.

Keywords: dysferlin, organelle division, peroxisomes, proliferation

Abbreviations: ARF, ADP ribosylation factor; *At*, *Arabidopsis thaliana*; *C. elegans*, *Caenorhabditis elegans*; CG, complementation groups; *H. polymorpha*, *Hansenula polymorpha*; *Hs*, *Homo sapiens*; IRD, infantile Refsum disease; LDH, lactate dehydrogenase; NALD, neonatal adrenoleukodystrophy; 4-PBA, 4-phenylbutyrate; PBD, peroxisome biogenesis disorders; PPAR, peroxisome proliferator activator receptor; PPRE, peroxisome proliferator response element; RCDP1, rhizomelic chondrodysplasia punctata Type 1; RNAi, RNA interference; *Sc*, *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*; TPR, tetratricopeptide repeat; *YI*, *Yarrowia lipolytica*; ZS, Zellweger syndrome

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	1
PEROXISOMES AND PEROXINS	2
PEROXISOME BIOGENESIS	
Factors involved in peroxisome proliferation	4
PEX11-family members	4
Dysferlin-containing proteins and membrane proliferation	5
Mitochondrial division	7
Common elements in mitochondrial and peroxisomal division	7
Proteins involved in peroxisome inheritance	8
CONCLUDING REMARKS	9
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	9
REFERENCES	9

INTRODUCTION

Compartmentalization of biochemical pathways is an essential and beneficial trait of eukaryotes. This structural differentiation, however, requires rigorous orchestration and constant adjustments of the cellular content when external conditions change and when cells progress through the cell cycle. Moreover, in their life span cells come upon various adverse situations that could endanger their homeostasis and survival such as changes in nutrient availability, variations in temperature or other stress situations such as being confronted with oxidative agents or xenobiotics. To maintain their metabolic steady-state cells have evolved signaling mechanisms prompting transcriptional reprogramming to achieve a general metabolic remodeling that guides them through adaptation in response to external assaults.

The origin of subcellular organelles has long been a matter of debate. There appear to be two types of organelles, namely the autonomous organelles (endoplasmic reticulum, mitochondria and chloroplasts) and the non-autonomous ones (endosomes, lysosomes, vacuoles and secretory vesicles). It is generally accepted that autonomous organelles multiply by growth and division and therefore cannot be generated *de novo* (Nunnari and Walter 1996; Warren and Wickner 1996), whereas the others all derive from the ER.

The mechanism of peroxisome biogenesis has long been controversial. Peroxisomes were not regarded as typical autonomous organelles nor was there sufficient evidence for their descent from the ER. Are they synthesized de novo? Do they just grow and divide from preexisting organelles? Or do peroxisomes originate from the combination of both processes? This dilemma only received modest attention from the scientific community who thought that the biogenesis of this single membrane-bounded organelle was a simple variation of that of other organelles. The concepts that evolved during the last decades, however, illustrate that this process rests upon novel sophisticated mechanisms. The development of yeast genetic screens and high throughput proteomic approaches have allowed to identify numerous proteins required for peroxisome biogenesis. Beside our increasing knowledge of the single components and parts of the apparatus involved, the full comprehension of how the molecular machinery of peroxisome biogenesis works is still missing. Functional studies of proteins have been accomplished but how these act together and how this leads to peroxisome division or degradation is mostly enigmatic. All details of the molecular mechanism underlying matrix protein import are still not yet understood and the mechanism of peroxisome proliferation has only started to be unraveled. In this review we summarize the current knowledge about the mechanism by which cells adapt number, size and content of peroxisomes to their environment.

Degradation and synthesis of organelles has to be tightly regulated according to the metabolic status of the cell. This is especially true for multi-purpose organelles such as peroxisomes whose size, number, shape and protein content strongly vary depending on the cell and tissue type as well as on the developmental and physiological state of the organism. Interestingly, all yeast mutant cells affected in peroxisome biogenesis are sensitive to stress assault as demonstrated by their difficulty to grow on media containing high salt concentration compared to wild type (Dunn *et al.* 2004). Such an observation together with the fact that in yeast, peroxisomal functions seem to be required exclusively under stress situations reveals that these organelles may have a vital role in cellular adaptation to stress conditions.

PEROXISOMES AND PEROXINS

Peroxisomes are essential organelles in most eukaryotic cells; they are found in cells as distantly related as protozoa, yeasts, plants and animals (Keller *et al.* 1991). These organelles are surrounded by a single phospholipid bilayer. They are spherical in shape although their size (0.1-1 μ m in diameter), number and enzymatic content fluctuate upon the need of the organism, the cell type and the metabolic activities (Subramani 1993; Wanders and Waterham 2006). The importance of peroxisomes for life has been established by the inability of seeds to germinate when peroxisomes are not functional (Lin *et al.* 1999; Hayashi and Nishimura 2003) and by the occurrence of human genetic disorders e.g. Zellweger syndrome or neonatal adrenoleukodystrophy (Moser *et al.* 1995; Wanders 2004).

In comparison, mitochondria are enclosed by a sophisticated double membrane system and harbor more metabolic reactions than peroxisomes. Considering that yeast mitochondria contain 850 proteins (Reinders et al. 2006) and mammalian mitochondria supposedly more than 1400 (da Cruz et al. 2005) approximately 200 proteins can be expected in peroxisomes although the exact number remains to be determined. Peroxisomes possess the ability to generate and destroy hydrogen peroxide through the activity of their oxidases and catalase, respectively. Indeed, they obtained their name as an illustration of this metabolism. They also metabolize lipids, nitrogen bases and carbohydrates (Lazarow et al. 1985; van den Bosch et al. 1992; Subramani 1998; Purdue and Lazarow 2001). Growth of some yeast species on methanol (Veenhuis et al. 1978, 1981), fatty acids (Veenhuis et al. 1987) or alkanes (Kawamoto et al. 1978) drastically increases the size and number of peroxisomes. Correspondingly, in the absence of peroxisomes yeast cells are unable to grow on the carbon sources mentioned.

Mutations have been identified in the yeast S. cerevisiae (Erdmann et al. 1989) that mimic human genetic disorders (Tabak et al. 1999) and the corresponding yeast mutants constitute ideal model systems to analyze the molecular mechanism underlying peroxisome biogenesis and proliferation. Altogether the proteins involved in peroxisome biogenesis and proliferation have been coined peroxins and their genes PEX (Distel *et al.* 1996; Kiel *et al.* 2006). A characteristic common to all pex-mutants is that they lack functional peroxisomes, which is frequently associated with the mistargeting of peroxisomal matrix proteins. As a consequence some metabolic functions normally enclosed into peroxisomes such as β -oxidation in yeasts are altered in these mutants. Phenotypically, many pex-mutants are unable to multiply under conditions that normally lead to peroxisome proliferation e.g. oleic acid induction of yeast cells. Altogether 32 PEX genes from different organisms have been cloned and sequenced (Vizeacoumar et al. 2004) but no organism contains all of them. Striking advance has been made in the genetic classification of peroxisomal disorders owing to complementation analysis and homology probing with yeast *PEX* genes. In general, peroxisomal disorders can be divided into two major groups (Moser et al. 1995): i) those in which the biogenesis and formation of the organelle is affected resulting in the loss of multiple peroxisomal functions (Peroxisome Biogenesis Disorders, PBD MIM# 601539), which includes Zellweger syndrome (ZS; MIM# 214100), neonatal adrenoleukodystrophy (NALD; MIM# 202370), infantile Refsum disease (IRD; MIM# 266510), and rhizomelic chondrodysplasia punctata Type 1 (RCDP1; MIM# 215100), and ii) those in which one specific peroxisomal protein is deficient but peroxisomes remain intact. PBDs constitute a group of genetically heterogeneous disorders that have been classified into altogether 13 complementation groups (CG) and the genes mutated in all 13 CGs have been identified and sequenced (Eckert and Erdmann 2003; Yan et al. 2005; Wanders and Waterham 2006). Although PBDs represent a small group of hereditary diseases these are mostly lethal and no long-lasting therapeutic approaches have been developed yet.

The various peroxins fulfill defined functions, although not all of them have been elucidated at the level of molecular mechanisms. Three peroxins seem to be required for membrane biogenesis and transport of peroxisomal membrane proteins (PEX3, PEX16 and PEX19). PEX3 and PEX19 were shown to be responsible for the sorting of membrane proteins to the peroxisomes. Both of these proteins are conserved in most organisms. In mammalian cells, another peroxin, PEX16 was demonstrated to be required for the de novo formation of peroxisomal membranes (South and Gould 1999). Interestingly, this latter peroxin is absent in most yeast species except Yarrowia lipolytica where it was demonstrated to be associated with peroxisome proliferation rather than peroxisome biogenesis per se (Guo et al. 2003). Other peroxins such as PEX5 and PEX7 act as receptors for peroxisomal matrix proteins. While PEX13, PEX14 and PEX17 play a role in the docking of the cargo-loaded receptors, PEX2, PEX8, PEX10 and PEX12 were shown to participate in the recycling of the receptors. Another role was also suggested for PEX14 from studies in the yeast Hansenula polymorpha indicating that the phosphorylated form of docking factor PEX14 may be recognized by the degradation machinery (Leao and Kiel 2003). Although such role for PEX14 has not yet been investigated in other organisms a connection between peroxisome formation and degradation would demonstrate that those two mechanisms may be intimately linked. The peroxins known to be involved in proliferation of peroxisomes are PEX11, PEX23, PEX24, PEX25, PEX27, PEX28, PEX29, PEX30, PEX31 and PEX32 although among these ten proteins only PEX11 was found in all organisms, so far (Table 1).

While the peroxisome machinery seems to be conserved from yeast to man some subtle differences can be found and some organisms seem to contain several proteins with simi-

Table 1 Known peroxins and correlated peroxisomal disorders.

Gene	Functional	I	dentified in	n	Human gene locus	CG Gifu*		Correlated diseases
	orthologs	Sc	Yl	Hs	_			
PEX1		+	+	+	7q21.q22	1	Е	ZS/NALD/IRD
PEX2		+	+	+	8q21.1	10	F	ZS
PEX3		+	+	+	6q23.q24	12	G	NALD
PEX4		+	-	-		-		
PEX5		+	+	+	12q13.3	2	-	ZS/NALD/IRD
PEX6		+	+	+	6q21.1	4 (=6)	С	ZS/NALD/IRD
PEX7		+	+	+	6q21.q22.2	11	R	RCDP
PEX8		+	+	-		-		
PEX9		Elimina	Eliminated, wrong ORF**					
PEX10		+	+	+	1q36.32	7 (=5)	В	ZS/NALD/IRD
					15q25.2 (α)			
PEX11	PEX25/PEX27	+	+	+	1q21.1 (β)	-		
					19q13.3 (γ)			
PEX12		+	+	+	17q21.1	3	-	ZS/NALD/IRD
PEX13		+	-	+	2q14.p16	13	Н	ZS/NALD
PEX14		+	+	+	1q36.22	-	K	ZS
PEX15	PEX26	+	-	-		-		
PEX16		-	+	+	11p11.11	9	D	ZS
PEX17		+	-	-		-		
PEX18	PEX20	+	-	-		-		
PEX19		+	+	+	1q22	14	J	ZS
PEX20	PEX18/PEX21	-	+	-		-		
PEX21	PEX20	+	-	-		-		
PEX22		+	-	-		-		
PEX23	PEX30/31/32	-	+	-		-		
PEX24	PEX28/29	-	+	-		-		
PEX25	PEX11	+	-	-		-		
PEX26	PEX15	-	-	+	22q11.21	8	А	ZS/NALD/IRD
PEX27	PEX11	+	-	-		-		
PEX28	PEX24	+	-	-		-		
PEX29	PEX24	+	-	-		-		
PEX30	PEX23	+	-	-		-		
PEX31	PEX23	+	-	-		-		
PEX32	PEX23	+	-	-		-		

CG, complementation group; *Gifu, complementation grouping of Gifu University School of Medicine; ** Kiel et al. 2006.

larities to known peroxins reminiscent of gene duplication (Kiel *et al.* 2006). In some organisms distinct peroxins enclose functions that are shared between several factors in others. For instance, the function of the yeast peroxins *YIPEX20* or ScPEX18 and *ScPEX21* in bringing together the two matrix protein receptors (PEX7 and PEX5) seems to be exclusively achieved by PEX5L, the longer isoform of PEX5 in higher eukaryotes (Dodt *et al.* 2001).

PEROXISOME BIOGENESIS

Biogenesis of peroxisomes includes induction, import of membrane and matrix proteins, proliferation and inheritance. When peroxisomes become superfluous, they are rapidly and selectively degraded via pexophagy (Leao and Kiel 2003; Farre and Subramani 2004). The yeast S. cerevisiae presents the advantage of being able to grow under conditions where peroxisomes do not seem necessary such as fermentative growth on glucose media. From morphological analysis in various studies, it can be reasoned that upon glucose growth this yeast contains one or a few small peroxisomes. Peroxisomes do not proliferate when yeast cells grow on glucose as sole carbon source but, during cell division the peroxisome present in each cell divides such that the mother and the daughter cell both enclose one organelle (Fagarasanu et al. 2005). Physiologically, the survival of one or few peroxisomes enables the cell to rapidly respond to new variations in the environment that require the function of peroxisomes.

The prevailing hypothesis for peroxisome biogenesis is that they originate from the ER, grow, accumulate proteins and divide at some unknown point to give rise to smaller organelles that yet again accumulate matrix proteins as illustrated in **Fig. 1** (Tabak *et al.* 2003; Kunau 2005; Schluter *et al.* 2006). However, many questions remain unanswered.



Fig. 1 Model for peroxisome biogenesis. Peroxisomes are synthesized *de novo* or proliferate by division of existing organelles. The model is discussed in the text.

At which time point are proteins translocated into the peroxisomal matrix? Does this occur via vesicular fusion (Titorenko *et al.* 2000) or does membrane invagination occur (McNew and Goodman 1996)? Is there a translocation pore at the peroxisomal membrane to translocate matrix proteins into the organelle (Erdmann and Schliebs 2005)? By which mechanism and under which stimuli do peroxisomes grow? Are peroxisomes programmed to divide at a determined size or is there some kind of sensing factor signaling them to do so? Are all peroxisomes import-competent? Do peroxisomes have a finite lifespan? The answer to those questions has long been postponed due to technical limitations to study peroxisome biogenesis. Although more than three decades ago electron microscopic pictures of peroxisomes showed that they sometimes presented physical association with the ER (Novikoff and Novikoff 1972), the lack of biochemical connection to ER components has cast some doubt about their true origin. The confirmation came only recently with the results of elaborate real-time fluorescence microscopy analyses in the yeast S. cerevisiae, which elegantly demonstrated that PEX3 proteins required for the formation of new peroxisomal membranes accumulate at the ER membrane and recruit PEX19 before the maturation of the peroxisomal membrane (Hoepfner et al. 2005). Similarly, using a modified photoactivable version of the green fluorescent protein from Aequorea victoria fused with PEX16, Kim et al. showed in mammalian cells that PEX16 is inserted into the ER membrane and as such regulates the process of peroxisome *de novo* formation by recruiting other membrane proteins (Kim et al. 2006).

In line with these most recent results the ER membrane seems to represent the cradle for peroxisome biogenesis (Hoepfner *et al.* 2005; Kim *et al.* 2006) and, in addition, peroxisomes have the ability to grow and divide by fission (Lazarow and Fujiki 1985). But the question remains as how these two modes of formation are distributed and whether both *de novo* biogenesis and division of already existing peroxisomes are regulated or whether one mechanism is constitutive and the other one regulated. Indeed, how the cell coordinates the overall dynamic turnover of organelles is still an open question. Both processes may not be equally important. While in some organisms *de novo* synthesis might be the most prominent one in others growth and division may prevail.

Peroxisomes are very adaptable organelles. Their number and size can vary in different cell types under normal growth conditions or under stress suggesting that constitutive as well as regulated mechanisms must exist for raising

	H. sapiens	Y. lipolytica	S.	cerevisiae
	PEX3	PEX3		PEX3
Membrane Biogenesis	PEX16 PEX19	PEX16 PEX19		PEX19
Elongation	ΡΕΧ11α ΡΕΧ11β ΡΕΧ11γ	PEX11		PEX11 PEX25 PEX27
Fission	DLP1 FIS1	?		VPS, DNM1 FIS1
Number circ		DEVOI	\langle	PEX28
separation		PEX24		PEX29
	2			PEX30
		PEX23	\leftarrow	PEX31
			*	PEX32
		?		RHO1
				INP1
Inheritance	?	?		INP2
				MYO2



peroxisome abundance beyond one per cell. Peroxisomes respond to environmental stimuli and proliferate or are degraded depending on the need of the cells. A unique feature of peroxisomes is their massive proliferation upon stimulation by herbicides, xenobiotics, ozone or during senescence (Lazarow and Fujiki 1985; Pastori and del Rio 1997) usually associated with increased synthesis of some of their enzymes predominantly those involved in the β -oxidation of fatty acids. In mammalian cells, the expression of genes involved in lipid homeostasis is controlled by the alpha-form of the peroxisome proliferator activator receptor (PPARa). PPAR α binds to the peroxisome proliferator response element (PPRE) in the promoters of the regulated genes (Lemberger et al. 1996). Ligands have been found for PPARa that include medium or long chain fatty acids as well as hypolipidemic drugs such as fibrates (Issemann and Green 1990). Clofibrate treatment results for instance in amplified expression of PPAR α -regulated genes, including the gene coding for acyl-CoA oxidase in rodent hepatocytes. Two studies reported that the activation by PPAR α does not affect the expression of *PEX* genes (Okumoto *et al.* 1998; Shimizu et al. 1999). The functions assumed by the proteins involved in peroxisome biogenesis are summarized in Fig. 2 and discussed in detail below.

Factors involved in peroxisome proliferation

PEX11-family members

Among the few proteins that have been implicated in peroxisome proliferation, PEX11 was shown to be directly involved in this process in yeast and mammals (Erdmann and Blobel 1995; Marshall *et al.* 1995; Abe and Fujiki 1998; Abe *et al.* 1998; Schrader *et al.* 1998). Interestingly, the ultrasmall unicellular red alga *Cyanidioschyzon merolae 10D* lacking a PEX11 orthologue contains only one single microbody (Matsuzaki *et al.* 2004) underscoring the significance of PEX11 for peroxisome proliferation.

In mammals, three genes have been identified that code for PEX11 α , PEX11 β and PEX11 γ , respectively. Expression of the genes *PEX11\alpha* and *PEX11\gamma* is tissue-specific (Shimizu *et al.* 2004). While the latter genes are most prominently expressed in liver, PEX11 β is ubiquitously present in the organism (Schrader *et al.* 1998; Li *et al.* 2002b). Interestingly, *PEX11\alpha* was shown to be the only *PEX11* gene whose expression is inducible by fibrates (Schrader *et al.* 1998). A study revealed that 4-phenylbutyrate (4-PBA) could induce peroxisome proliferation and the expression of *PEX11\alpha* (McGuinness *et al.* 2000; Wei *et al.* 2000). It was also suggested that 4-PBA differs from previously described peroxisome proliferators in that it does not act via PPAR α and can induce peroxisome proliferation in mammalian cell culture (Li *et al.* 2002a).

Animal models have been generated that lack either *PEX11a* or *PEX11β* (Li *et al.* 2002a, 2002b). The *PEX11β* knockout mice display many of the pathologic characterristics of the known Zellweger syndrome mouse models PEX5-/- or PEX2-/-, including neuronal migration defect, enhanced neuronal apoptosis, developmental delay, neonatal hypotonia, and neonatal lethality. However, PEX11β-deficient mice did not display the peroxisomal enzyme import defects that are the cellular trait of the Zellweger syndrome. In contrast, mice lacking PEX11a were indistinguishable from their wild type and heterozygous littermates, they all developed normally. They had no detectable defect in constitutive peroxisome division, and they displayed a normal peroxisome proliferation response to PPARa-activating drugs. On the other hand, overproduction of PEX11 α was sufficient to induce peroxisome proliferation in mouse and human cultured cells regardless of the cellular metabolism (Li and Gould 2002). It is however, noteworthy that $PEX11\gamma$ overexpression did not increase peroxisome abundance, but induced tubulation, enlargement, and clustering of peroxisomes (Li et al. 2002a).

The rat PEX11a was shown to hold a C-terminal

KXKXX motif typical for ER resident proteins. A peroxisome enriched fraction recruited ARF and coatomer leading the authors to suggest that PEX11 may be involved in binding the coatomer (Passreiter *et al.* 1998). Although this ability was not disputed it was later demonstrated that PEX11 binding to the coatomer is not required for its function in peroxisome proliferation (Maier *et al.* 2000). It is, however, notable that among the three known human PEX11, only PEX11 α contains a KXKXX motif in its Cterminal region suggesting the involvement of the coatomer only under particular circumstances, e.g. PEX11 α -driven proliferation (Maier *et al.* 2000).

Physiological levels of PEX11 are sufficient to cause fragmentation of peroxisomes and peroxisome fission is inhibited in its absence (Erdmann and Blobel 1995; Voncken et al. 2003). PEX11 proteins may influence the overall membrane curvature and associate with specific lipids to determine the correct composition of the peroxisomal membrane. Co-localization studies of heterologously expressed PEX11 from Trypanosoma brucei in mammalian and in yeast cells showed that PEX11 was sorted to peroxisomes in these cells (Lorenz et al. 1998), reminiscent of a strong functional conservation. All PEX11 proteins identified share common features, they are small, very basic, and carry an unusually high percentage of hydrophobic amino acids. PEX11 is also the most abundant peroxin at the peroxisomal membrane. Whereas ScPEX11 was suggested to be accessible from the cytosol (Marshall et al. 1996) the trypanosome PEX11 and human PEX11y remained insensitive to digestion by external proteases (Tanaka *et al.* 2003). Although, the nature of PEX11 association with the membrane is still controversial, its topology has great implications for its potential to interact with other cellular components. Sequence analysis reported the existence of a putative membrane targeting signal consensus immediately downstream of the predicted transmembrane residues in Trypanosoma brucei (Lorenz et al. 1998). This consensus sequence might be responsible for the interaction between the peroxisomal membrane protein receptor PEX19 and PEX11 (Sacksteder et al. 2000; Rottensteiner et al. 2004; Fransen et al. 2005)

In mouse, the PEX11 protein was suggested to indirectly promote peroxisome proliferation by recruiting the dynamin-like protein DLP1 to the peroxisome membrane (Li and Gould 2003), and VPS1 may be similarly recruited in yeast (Hoepfner *et al.* 2001). Analysis of the role of DLP1 in peroxisome proliferation in human cells demonstrated that although PEX11 is required for peroxisome proliferation its presence is not sufficient for the fission process in peroxisome division and that DLP1 is required for this step (Koch et al. 2004). Moreover, in a more recent study on the role of microtubules in peroxisome proliferation in fibroblasts from patients with Zellweger syndrome (*pex1*-null cells) over-expression of *PEX11* β could restore the alignment of peroxisomal structures along microtubules as well as binding of DLP1 to these structures but it was not sufficient to promote peroxisome fission (Nguyen et al. 2006). Consequently, it can be assumed that PEX11 proteins are involved in the growth of the organelle and that other factors are responsible for the fission event. Even though peroxisomes have been shown to interact with the cytoskeleton (Schrader et al. 1996), and class V myosin MYO2 (Hoepfner et al. 2001) and Dynein motors (Brocard et al. 2005) have been demonstrated to play a role in peroxisome movement and biogenesis, respectively, no peroxisomal protein has yet been identified that directly attach to the cytoskeleton. An essential aspect of peroxisome proliferation may be the release of the organelle from the cytoskeleton, a process in which PEX11 could fulfill a primordial function. It remains to be elucidated whether a communication is established between peroxisomes and the rest of the cell from within the peroxisomal matrix mediated by the activation of PEX11. Other peroxins could play an important role in releasing the organelle from the cytoskeleton. and the PEX11 function in plants seems to be conserved (Orth *et al.* 2007). Based on sequence comparison *PEX11* genes were assigned. Studies on peroxisomal dynamics (Mullen *et al.* 2001; Jedd and Chua 2002) and expression data of these *PEX11* genes (Lingard and Trelease 2006; Orth *et al.* 2007) suggest that peroxisomal proliferation mediated by PEX11 takes place in plants like in other organisms. Interestingly, among the five *At*PEX11 proteins identified *At*PEX11-1 (PEX11c), *At*PEX11-2 (PEX11e) and *At*PEX11-5 (PEX11d) carry a C-terminal -KXKXX motif thought to mediate protein retention in the ER and to facilitate the binding of coatomer (Passreiter *et al.* 1998; Andersson *et al.* 1999). Thus, these latter proteins resemble *HsPEX11a* whereas the *At*PEX11-3 (PEX11a) and *At*PEX11-4 (PEX11b) could represent the orthologs of *Hs*PEX11β and HsPEX11γ.

Yeasts differ from higher eukaryotic organisms in that they perform β -oxidation only in peroxisomes. In S. cerevisiae the expression of genes encoding many peroxisomal enzymes and few peroxins is repressed by glucose and induced by the presence of fatty acids in the culture medium e.g. oleic acid, among them ScPEX11 and ScPEX25 (Rottensteiner et al. 2003a; Rottensteiner et al. 2003b; Tam et al. 2003). In S. cerevisiae oleate-inducible genes contain an oleate-responsive element (ORE) in their promoter sequence that is able to bind the transcriptional activator dimer OAF1/PIP2 (Rottensteiner et al. 1997). Disruption of the ScPEX11 gene results in the presence of a giant peroxisome in mutant cells whereas, overexpression of this gene leads to the formation of small peroxisomes in larger amounts than in wild type cells (Erdmann and Blobel 1995). Knowledge of the entire S. cerevisiae genome has facilitated the identification of new proteins potentially involved in peroxisome proliferation. Microarray profiling and proteomic approaches have led to the identification of the novel genes ScPEX25 and ScPEX27. The peroxins ScPEX25 (Smith et al. 2002) and ScPEX27 (Rottensteiner et al. 2003b; Tam et al. 2003) together with the dynamin-like protein VPS1 (Hoepfner et al. 2001) have been demonstrated to be required for the maintenance of peroxisome size and number in yeast. The similarities in sequence and function suggest that the yeast PEX11-family members are also involved in enlargement and growth of peroxisomes rather than in the fission process.

Dysferlin-containing proteins and membrane proliferation

A number of peroxins, *YIPEX23*, *YIPEX24* and their homologs *ScPEX28*, *ScPEX29*, *ScPEX30*, *ScPEX31*, *ScPEX32* contain dysferlin domains. These new peroxins are peroxisome integral membrane proteins that have an important role in controlling the size and number of the organelle (Yan *et al.* 2005). A dysferlin encoding sequence was first identified as a gene mutated in limb-girdle muscular dystrophy (type 2B) and Miyoshi myopathy (Bashir *et al.* 1998; Liu *et al.* 1998). Since they generate force by contraction skeletal muscle cells are very susceptible to plasma membrane injuries (Alderton and Steinhardt 2000; McNeil and Steinhardt 2003). Evidence from studies of dysferlin-null mice suggests a function for dysferlin in membrane repair (Bansal *et al.* 2003).

The mammalian gene encoding dysferlin shows homology to the Fer-1 gene of *Caenorhabditis elegans* (Bashir *et al.* 1998). Fer-1 is a spermatogenesis factor specifically expressed in primary spermatocytes in *C. elegans*. In spermatids, mutations in Fer-1 cause infertility by impairing fusion of large vesicles called membranous organelles with the plasma membrane (Achanzar and Ward 1997). This fusion event leads to addition of membrane material to the plasma membrane at the fusion site, a process necessary for the extension of the pseudopodia responsible for crawling of the spermatids. Consequently, mutations in Fer-1 lead to immobile spermatids and sterility in *C. elegans* (Achanzar and Ward 1997). Because Dysferlin and Fer-1 contain structural

Plant pex11-mutants have recently been characterized

as well as sequence similarities, it was proposed that dysferlin may also be a vesicle-associated membrane protein involved in the docking and fusion of vesicles in skeletal muscle cells. Following the identification of dysferlin, several other homologous proteins were identified establishing the ferlin-family (Yasunaga *et al.* 1999; Britton *et al.* 2000).

Motif repeats called dysferlin domains (Dysf) with no known function have first been identified in dysferlin. The Dysf domains are commonly described in two parts, the Nterminal region (Dysf-N) and the C-terminal region (Dysf-C). Among Dysf-containing proteins, several integral membrane proteins implicated in the peroxisome proliferation have been identified in yeast. The peroxins PEX23 and PEX24 were first discovered in the yeast Y. lipolityca in a screen for mutant cells unable to utilize oleic acid as a sole carbon source (Brown et al. 2000; Tam and Rachubinski 2002). Homology probing with Y/PEX23 and Y/PEX24 soon led to the finding of *S. cerevisiae* homologues ScPEX30, ScPEX31, ScPEX32 (Vizeacoumar et al. 2004) and ScPEX28 and ScPEX29 (Vizeacoumar et al. 2003), respectively. All these proteins localize to the peroxisomal membrane. Although doomed to confusion, the common structural domain present in all these proteins has been called PEX24 domain in the PFAM database (Tam and Rachubinski 2002) and its function remains entirely unknown. Sequence alignments show conserved blocks of homology Y/PEX24, YPEX23, ScPEX29, through ScPEX28, ScPEX30, ScPEX31 and ScPEX32 protein sequences. Indeed, all members of this protein family contain at least one transmembrane domain and a dysferlin domain as common structural motifs. In line with the role of Fer-1 in membrane fusion (Achanzar and Ward 1997) it would be tempting to speculate that in a manner similar to Fer-1, dysferlin or myoferlin, the five S. cerevisiae dysferlin-containing peroxins either alone or assembled may illustrate a role in the attraction of dysferlin-domain protein containing vesicles to the peroxisomal membrane. In support of this hypothesis, it has been noted that mutants in YIPEX23 accumulate vesicles containing peroxisomal matrix and membrane proteins (Brown et al. 2000). For one of the S. cerevisiae homolog some interaction partners are already known. ScPEX30 has been recently reported to interact with the peroxin PEX19 believed to be a main player in the translocation of peroxisomal membrane proteins (PMP) and with the small GTPase RHO1 (Yan et al. 2005; Vizeacoumar et al. 2006) implicated in the regulation of peroxisome membrane dynamics and biogenesis (Marelli et al. 2004). Interestingly, PEX30 was shown to interact with PEX29 and PEX31 in a partial two-hybrid screen. Moreover, ScPEX30 is already present in membrane vesicles in non-induced cells (unpublished data) and induced upon growth on oleate (Vizeacoumar et al. 2004).

Although yeasts mutated in the PMP encoding genes PEX30, PEX31 or PEX32 do not present a complete peroxisomal defect, peroxisome proliferation is altered in these cells. Especially, cells lacking PEX30 or all three proteins present an increased number of peroxisomes (Vizeacoumar et al. 2004). From mutant analysis it has been suggested that PEX30 may play a role in the regulated control of peroxisome number whereas PEX31 and PEX32 would be mainly implicated in the regulation of peroxisome size. Moreover, these three peroxins may act downstream of PEX28 and PEX29 also demonstrated to regulate peroxisome proliferation (Vizeacoumar et al. 2004). Whether these proteins are all members of one macromolecular complex is unknown. Sequence analysis reports show that PEX30, PEX31 and PEX32 contain 2, 4 and 6 hydrophobic regions, respectively, that are putative transmembrane domains. The C-terminal ends of PEX29- and PEX30-tagged fusion proteins were accessible to antibodies when peroxisomes were intact, which demonstrate that this part of the proteins may face the cytosol (unpublished data).

The expression of PEX30 and PEX32 was strongly influenced by the carbon sources. Under conditions when peroxisome function is not required such as glucose growth yeast cells do express PEX30 but its expression is strongly increased when peroxisome proliferation is induced with oleic acid. The expression of PEX32 is only detectable upon induction. In contrast, PEX31 expression seems to be constitutive regardless of whether peroxisome proliferation is induced or not. In summary, the expression of PEX30 and PEX32 is transcriptionally regulated presumably coordinated by the metabolic needs of the cell and may rather be implicated in the negative control of peroxisomal number and size, respectively. In contrast PEX31 is constitutively expressed and may be involved in the down-regulation of peroxisome abundance. However, the down-regulation by PEX31 may be subjected to a different control mechanism. This fits well with the observation that PEX31 was found as a target for the phosphorylation/dephosphorylation regulatory circuit by the protein kinase IPL1 and phosphatase GLC7 (Pinsky et al. 2006). Identified in a multicopy suppressor screen of temperature sensitive Ipl1-mutant yeasts the PEX31 protein was shown to interact with GLC7. The ILP1 kinase belongs to the Aurora family of kinases, important regulators of chromosome attachment to microtubules (Kotwaliwale and Biggins 2006). It has been suggested that activity of the phosphatase GLC7 guarantees accurate chromosome segregation during cell division by dephosphorylating ILP1 targets rather than regulating the ILP1 kinase. Most likely, PEX31 counteracts the regulatory action of the kinase IPL1 by stimulating GLC7. Alternatively, PEX31 is substrate for both ILP1 and GLC7 and overproduction of PEX31 results in active unmodified PEX31 that acts to release proteins from the microtubules. Whether such a regulatory circuit may be involved in peroxisome biogenesis or inheritance remains to be determined.

The genes *PEX28* and *PEX29* seem to be constitutively expressed upon glucose and oleate growth. Yeast cells lacking PEX28 or/and PEX29 still contain peroxisomes but their proliferation seems to be altered. The absence of PEX29. PEX28 or both leads to an increased number of small peroxisomes, that exhibit extensive clustering, and often display membrane thickening between adjacent peroxisomes in a cluster (Vizeacoumar et al. 2003). Thereafter, these new proteins were suggested to participate in the separation of peroxisomes during the proliferation process. Interestingly, although yeast cells deleted in PEX28 or PEX29 show no growth retardation on oleate, yeast cells deleted in *PEX29* present a severe growth defect on lactate. Lactate is one of the major carbon sources in natural environments. Therefore, PEX29 could play a role in aerobic metabolism and it could be required for the function of the enzyme lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) converting lactate into pyruvate usually inside the mitochondria. This role could include i) regulation of LDH localization, ii) regulation of the coenzyme (NAD⁺) accessibility or iii) involvement in NADH reoxidation. Alternatively, the phenotype observed in pex29mutant cells may be due to a reduced peroxisome proliferation with subsequent metabolic consequences on mitochondria.

To this end, it is noteworthy that the import of peroxisomal matrix proteins is defective in *Y. lipolytica* mutantcells lacking PEX23 or PEX24 whereas the peroxisomal protein transport is unaffected in *S. cerevisiae* upon deletion of the respective homologs (Brown *et al.* 2000; Tam and Rachubinski 2002; Vizeacoumar *et al.* 2003, 2004). This suggests that although the newly identified peroxins from *S. cerevisiae* contain structural homology to *YI*PEX23 and *YI*PEX24 they may assume a different function in peroxisome proliferation. Alternatively, variation in the mechanism of peroxisome biogenesis and proliferation may be a species-specific theme. The yeast *Y. lipolytica* has already been shown to escape the typical yeast mechanism for peroxisome biogenesis since it requires the action of the factor PEX16, which does not seem to exist in *S. cerevisiae*.

Mitochondrial division

Maintenance in number, morphology and distribution of organelles is sensitive to environmental signals and preserved through the balance between fusion and fission, two tightly regulated processes. For instance, mitochondrial fusion and fission are both controlled via GTPases. The fusion of yeast mitochondria requires the two factors FZO1 and MGM1 (Rapaport et al. 1998; Wong et al. 2003), and mitofusins 1, 2 and OPA1 act as their counterparts in mammalian cells (Eura et al. 2003; Cipolat et al. 2004). Fission of mitochondria is initiated by the interaction of the large dynamin related GTPase DLP1 with FIS1, a TPR motifs containing-protein (Mozdy et al. 2000). The S. cerevisiae ortholog DNM1 requires the additional factor MDV1, a WD40 protein serving as adaptor molecule (Tieu et al. 2002). A number of other proteins have been identified that exhibit a function in regulating mitochondrial distribution and morphology (Dimmer et al. 2002).

The 17kD protein FIS1 is tail-anchored into the outer mitochondrial membrane with its N-terminus facing the cytosol (Stojanovski et al. 2003). It is targeted to mitochondria via its C-terminal end (Koch et al. 2005). Overexpression of FIS1 in mammalian cells leads to mitochondrial fragmentation and aggregation whereas knockdown via RNAi results in mitochondrial morphological defects and extension of mitochondrial tubules (Stojanovski et al. 2003). The fis1-mutant yeasts exhibit tubular mitochondrial structures spread out through the whole cytosol thought to be the consequence of an aberrant mitochondrial fission (Mozdy et al. 2000). Similarly, cells from the plant Arabidopsis thaliana lacking the FIS1-orthologue BIGYIN contain fewer but larger mitochondria (Scott et al. 2006). FIS1 is essential to recruit the GTPase DLP/DNM1, to the outer mitochondrial membrane. FIS1 works either alone in mammalian cells or in association with MDV1 in yeast. Only 3% of the whole cellular DLP1 are located to the outer mitochondrial membrane, the majority of molecules being found in the cytosol (Smirnova et al. 2001). The TPR region of HsFIS1 was demonstrated to be involved in the interaction with DLP1 (Yu et al. 2005). The TPR-like helix bundle of FIS1 (Suzuki et al. 2003) extending into the cytosol may be capable of binding the C-terminal ends of DLP1 although the part of DLP1 recognized by FIS1 has not yet been identified. In support of this hypothesis, numerous examples exist for which TPR domains recognize short C-terminal stretches of amino acids, e.g. PEX5 (Brocard et al. 1994; Lametschwandtner et al. 1998), HOP (Scheufler et al. 2000), or APC3 (Vodermaier et al. 2003). FIS1 was proposed to either act as recruitment factor for constituents of the mitochondrial division machinery or as a signaling molecule from within the mitochondria. With FIS1 being evenly distributed along the mitochondrial surface it could exert its function in either of two ways: i) the interaction with DLP1 is of transient nature or ii) only a portion of FIS1 that has been previously activated interacts with DLP1 (van der Bliek 2000). A recent model for yeast mitochondrial fission suggests that the MDV1-FIS1 complex recruits DNM1-dimers at the outer mitochondrial membrane (Bhar et al. 2006). Once associated with the outer mitochondrial membrane the dimers assemble into multimeric complexes that as a result lead to the reorganization of MDV1 molecules into fission complexes. MDV1 is usually evenly distributed on the outer mitochondrial membrane and only in the lead of this reorganization the protein accumulates in punctate structures that also colocalize with FIS1-containing fission complexes. However, FIS1 itself remains evenly distributed along the mitochondrial outer membrane.

The GTPase DNM1/DLP1 was demonstrated to promote programmed cell death following treatment with various death stimuli (Fannjiang *et al.* 2004). In agreement, prevention of fission events by expression inhibition of DLP1, FIS1 or the adaptor MDV1 in yeast leads to a delay in apoptosis (Lee *et al.* 2004). Obviously, mitochondrial fission is a prerequisite for apoptosis.

MDV1, a so far yeast-specific component of the mitochondrial division apparatus, harbors seven WD40 repeats known to form a beta propeller structure usually involved in protein-protein interaction (Neer *et al.* 1994). At least two interaction partners are known for MDV1 namely, DNM1 (Tieu and Nunnari 2000) and FIS1 (Karren *et al.* 2005). Furthermore, another WD40 repeat protein, CAF4, was recently identified as a component of the mitochondrial division machinery that interacts with FIS1, MDV1 and DNM1 and apparently functions MDV1 alike (Griffin *et al.* 2005) making WD40 a potential structural requirement for mitochondrial fission.

Common elements in mitochondrial and peroxisomal division

Evidence has been found that components of the mitochondrial division apparatus also act on peroxisomes (Koch *et al.* 2003; Li and Gould 2003; Koch *et al.* 2005). For both organelles, proliferation relies on the elongation, constriction and finally division of membranes surrounding a proteinaceous content different from the cytosolic environment. Yet, the mitochondrial division machinery is expected to be more sophisticated since the fission event has to be coordinated between two membrane systems.

The mammalian DLP1 protein was not only localized to mitochondria but also to peroxisomes where it has been suggested to play an essential role in the process of peroxisome division (Koch et al. 2003; Li and Gould 2003). Comparable with its localization at constriction sites of the outer mitochondrial membrane DLP1 was also localized at spots along elongated peroxisomes and at the tips of peroxisomal tubules (Koch et al. 2003). Silencing DLP1 expression resulted in the reduction of peroxisome abundance and formation of tubular peroxisomes and mitochondria (Koch et al. 2003; Li and Gould 2003; Koch et al. 2005). Since the tubular extensions of peroxisomes observed in the absence of DLP1 presented constrictions the role of DLP1 was proposed to be restricted to the fission process. Elongation and constriction of peroxisomes may therefore occur independently of DLP1 (Koch et al. 2004). When DLP1 silencing was combined with the overexpression of $PEX11\beta$ the formation of tubular membranes with constrictions was strongly enhanced suggesting that in the absence of DLP1 the membrane division process is initiated but not completed (Koch et al. 2004). Peroxisome division is seen as a multistep process including elongation, constriction and fission of the organelles. Distinct sets of proteins may be required for these processes. Whereas no key player has yet been characterized to be involved in the process of membrane constriction during peroxisome proliferation (Koch et al. 2005), PEX11 is assumed to be involved in elongation and DLP1 is a key component for fission of peroxisomes and mitochondria.

Since organellar fission occurs in all eukaryotes functional homolog must exist for the major players. Accordingly, DRP3A has been identified as DLP1 homolog in plants (Mano et al. 2004). The closest ortholog in the yeast S. cerevisiae DNM1 is not required for the regulation of peroxisome abundance under non-inducing growth conditions (Hoepfner et al. 2001; Kuravi et al. 2006). Indeed, in yeast another dynamin related protein, VPS1, identified in purified peroxisome fractions is involved in peroxisome division under all growth conditions (Hoepfner et al. 2001; Marelli et al. 2004). Its association with peroxisomes is PEX19-dependent (Vizeacoumar et al. 2006). Vps1-mutant cells grown on glucose exhibit only one or two large peroxisomes that may form long tubules (Hoepfner et al. 2001) suggesting a role for VPS1 in peroxisome fission. However, recent observations in S. cerevisiae describe the presence of DNM1 on peroxisomes and quantitative fluorescence measurements demonstrate that it participates in the regulation of peroxisome abundance when cells are induced with oleate (Kuravi et al. 2006). The lack of VPS1 leads to a reduction of peroxisome number under all growth conditions, the absence of DNM1, in contrast, reduces the number of peroxisomes only when cells are grown on oleate. Yeast cells deleted for both dynamin-related proteins usually contain only one but enlarged peroxisome (Kuravi *et al.* 2006).

FIS1 represents another example of a protein with dual localization that is involved in organelle division (Koch et al. 2005; Kuravi et al. 2006). The last 26 amino acids consisting of a transmembrane domain and a C-terminal tail are sufficient for targeting to both mitochondria and peroxisomes (Koch et al. 2005). In human cells co-expression of *FIS1* and *PEX11* β changes the peroxisome distribution. Peroxisomes accumulate in a juxtanuclear position and associate with aggregated/fragmented mitochondria (Koch et al. 2005). While over-expression of each protein alone did not alter the uniform distribution of peroxisomes inside the cell it had the same consequence on peroxisome morphology namely, a tubulo-reticular appearance. Therefore it seemed reasonable to assume that PEX11 β and FIS1 act together on peroxisome growth and division. Interestingly, a physical interaction between PEX11 β and FIS1 could not be demonstrated (Li and Gould 2003; Koch et al. 2005). DLP1 is the only binding partner found for HsFIS1 (Yoon et al. 2003). Šilencing of FIS1 induces elongation of peroxisomes whereas overexpression of the human FIS1 leads to an increase in peroxisome fission, which can be suppressed by inhibition of DLP1 indicating a role for both proteins in peroxisome division. Obviously, FIS1 plays similar roles in the division of mitochondria and peroxisomes by either facilitating the targeting of cytosolic DLP1 to membranes or by activating DLP1. Both models would convincingly explain why only the overexpression of FIS1 and not of DLP1 enhances peroxisome fission, and why the absence of either protein leads to a similar loss of fission phenotype. In yeast, FIS1 is thought to recruit MDV1 and together these two proteins enroll DNM1 to mitochondrial fission sites (Naylor et al. 2006). FIS1 was demonstrated to have a dual location on mitochondria and peroxisomes (Kuravi et al. 2006), but an involvement of MDV1 or its homolog CAF4 in the process of peroxisome division in yeast has not yet been revealed.

Obviously, different organelles use the same components for division. VPS1 was originally identified as a protein involved in vacuolar protein sorting and localized to the Golgi (Vater *et al.* 1992), but now it is rather thought to assume its function both at the vacuole (Peters et al. 2004) and at peroxisomes (Hoepfner et al. 2001; Marelli et al. 2004). DLP1/DNM1 is involved in mitochondrial morphology and division (Bleazard et al. 1999). In addition to mitochondria the mammalian DLP1 has been localized to the perinuclear region (Imoto et al. 1998), to cytoplasmic vesicles, to tubules of the ER (Yoon et al. 1998), and to the Golgi apparatus (Koch et al. 2004) as well as to peroxisomes (Koch et al. 2003; Li and Gould 2003). The yeast protein has also been localized to peroxisomes (Kuravi et al. 2006). FIS1 responsible for targeting or activation of DLP1 has been localized to two different organelles, mitochondria and peroxisomes. Clearly, these proteins fulfill their tasks at different membranous systems. However, to maintain their specificity the shared components of the membrane division machineries are most likely interacting with organelle-specific factors that have not yet been identified. It may well be that among the dysferlin-containing peroxins one or the other interacts with members of the general division machinery thus serving as organelle-specific bridging protein.

Proteins involved in peroxisome inheritance

INP1 has been characterized as a peripheral membrane protein of peroxisomes in the yeast *S. cerevisiae*. In its absence, dividing mother cells completely lose their peroxisomes, which all migrate to the daughter cells. In contrast, overexpression of *INP1* resulted in the appearance of immobilized peroxisomes in mother cells that were unable to migrate to the bud. *In vitro* experiments demonstrated that INP1 could interact with proteins known to control peroxisome division, namely PEX25, PEX30 and VPS1 (Fagarasanu *et al.* 2005).

Eukaryotic cells need to faithfully bequeath organelles to their progeny to maintain the benefits of compartmentalization of biochemical pathways. During cell division in *S. cerevisiae* peroxisomes are driven along actin cables to the bud neck by the myosin V motor protein MYO2. The globular tail of MYO2 interacts with the newly identified yeast peroxisomal membrane protein INP2, which has subsequently been suggested to act as peroxisome-specific receptor linking peroxisomes to factors required for their movement (Fagarasanu *et al.* 2006). A model for peroxisome division and inheritance in yeasts is depicted in **Fig. 3**.

The small GTPase RHO1 has been identified at the peroxisomal membrane in yeast. It has been shown *in vitro* that



Fig. 3 Model for the proliferation and inheritance of peroxisomes. Peroxisomes are attached to the cytoskeleton via cytosolic anchor proteins and INP1. Factors controlling size and number are dispersed on the surface of peroxisomes exerting their control. Unknown signaling molecules activate the proliferation machinery already present on the peroxisomes finally leading to peroxisome fission. During cell division, selected peroxisomes become associated with MYO2 via INP2 and move along actin cables to the bud.

PEX25 and PEX30 could bind RHO1 suggesting a role for RHO1 in the regulation of peroxisome abundance. In addition, localization studies in mutant cells showed that the presence of PEX25 is required for the recruitment of RHO1 to the peroxisomal membrane where it seems to specifically participate in the reorganization of actin on peroxisomes upon induction (Marelli *et al.* 2004). Therefore, the function of RHO1 has been proposed to be associated with peroxisome membrane dynamics and biogenesis.

It is interesting to note that the two p24 proteins EMP24 and ERP3 have recently been implicated in peroxisome development of the yeast *H. polymorpha* (Otzen *et al.* 2007). Indeed, p24 proteins play a major role in vesicular trafficking and are assumed to connect the coat components to the corresponding cargo proteins (Bremser *et al.* 1999).

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Obviously, the process of organelle division and inheritance represents a further illustration of the well-known principle that eukaryotic cells use the same evolutionary successful system to assume different tasks in which the addition of adaptor modules establishes specificity. For instance, the movement of organelles requires motor proteins and organelle specific interaction partners. Building blocks are used like manufactured units and assembled into the right context. In this particular case the core unit of membrane fission, DLP1/DNM1 and FIS1, is adapted to various systems including peroxisomes. This core unit does not resemble the prokaryotic division apparatus. Bacterial division is initiated by the assembly of the prokaryotic tubulin homolog FTSZ into a ring at the future site of cell division (Romberg and Levin 2003). Several membrane-associated division proteins are recruited to this ring to form a complex, which causes invagination of the cell envelop layers to form a division septum (Harry et al. 2006). To compensate for the loss of the envelope eukaryotes have developed a new molecular machine for organelle division.

In view of the growing number of factors identified to participate in the regulation of peroxisome abundance the new focus should be to characterize how these factors act together, to define their interaction with the peroxisomal membrane via lipid-binding proteins, modifying enzymes, and cytoskeletal components, to analyze the spatio-temporal dynamics of peroxisomal membrane protein complex formation and how these factors are regulated during the process of peroxisome proliferation and to study how their dysfunction influences the development of human diseases.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to acknowledge extra financial support by the Rector of the University of Vienna to C.B. This work was supported by the University of Vienna Research Focus "Symbiosis and Molecular Recognition" and by the FP6 European Union Project "Peroxisomes" (LSHG-CT-2004-512018).

REFERENCES

- Abe I, Fujiki Y (1998) cDNA cloning and characterization of a constitutively expressed isoform of the human peroxin Pex11p. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* **252**, 529-533
- Abe I, Okumoto K, Tamura S, Fujiki Y (1998) Clofibrate-inducible, 28-kDa peroxisomal integral membrane protein is encoded by PEX11. FEBS Letters 431, 468-472
- Achanzar WE, Ward S (1997) A nematode gene required for sperm vesicle fusion. *Journal of Cell Science* 110 (Pt 9), 1073-1081
- Alderton JM, Steinhardt RA (2000) Calcium influx through calcium leak channels is responsible for the elevated levels of calcium-dependent proteolysis in dystrophic myotubes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 275, 9452-9460
- Andersson H, Kappeler F, Hauri HP (1999) Protein targeting to endoplasmic reticulum by dilysine signals involves direct retention in addition to retrieval. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 274, 15080-15084
- Bansal D, Miyake K, Vogel SS, Groh S, Chen CC, Williamson R, McNeil PL, Campbell KP (2003) Defective membrane repair in dysferlin-deficient muscular dystrophy. *Nature* 423, 168-172

- Bashir R, Britton S, Strachan T, Keers S, Vafiadaki E, Lako M, Richard I, Marchand S, Bourg N, Argov Z, Sadeh M, Mahjneh I, Marconi G, Passos-Bueno MR, Moreira Ede S, Zatz M, Beckmann JS, Bushby K (1998) A gene related to Caenorhabditis elegans spermatogenesis factor fer-1 is mutated in limb-girdle muscular dystrophy type 2B. Nature Genetics 20, 37-42
- Bhar D, Karren MA, Babst M, Shaw JM (2006) Dimeric Dnm1-G385D interacts with Mdv1 on mitochondria and can be stimulated to assemble into fission complexes containing Mdv1 and Fis1. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 281, 17312-17320
- Bleazard W, McCaffery JM, King EJ, Bale S, Mozdy A, Tieu Q, Nunnari J, Shaw JM (1999) The dynamin-related GTPase Dnm1 regulates mitochondrial fission in yeast. *Nature Cell Biology* 1, 298-304
- Bremser M, Nickel W, Schweikert M, Ravazzola M, Amherdt M, Hughes CA, Sollner TH, Rothman JE, Wieland FT (1999) Coupling of coat assembly and vesicle budding to packaging of putative cargo receptors. *Cell* 96, 495-506
- Britton S, Freeman T, Vafiadaki E, Keers S, Harrison R, Bushby K, Bashir R (2000) The third human FER-1-like protein is highly similar to dysferlin. *Genomics* **68**, 313-321
- Brocard C, Kragler F, Simon MM, Schuster T, Hartig A (1994) The tetratricopeptide repeat-domain of the PAS10 protein of Saccharomyces cerevisiae is essential for binding the peroxisomal targeting signal-SKL. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 204, 1016-1022
- Brocard CB, Boucher KK, Jedeszko C, Kim PK, Walton PA (2005) Requirement for microtubules and dynein motors in the earliest stages of peroxisome biogenesis. *Traffic* 6, 386-395
- Brown TW, Titorenko VI, Rachubinski RA (2000) Mutants of the Yarrowia lipolytica PEX23 gene encoding an integral peroxisomal membrane peroxin mislocalize matrix proteins and accumulate vesicles containing peroxisomal matrix and membrane proteins. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* 11, 141-152
- Cipolat S, Martins de Brito O, Dal Zilio B, Scorrano L (2004) OPA1 requires mitofusin 1 to promote mitochondrial fusion. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 101, 15927-15932
- da Cruz S, Parone PA, Martinou JC (2005) Building the mitochondrial proteome. Expert Reviews in Proteomics 2, 541-551
- Dimmer KS, Fritz S, Fuchs F, Messerschmitt M, Weinbach N, Neupert W, Westermann B (2002) Genetic basis of mitochondrial function and morphology in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Molecular Biology of the Cell 13, 847-853
- Distel B, Erdmann R, Gould SJ, Blobel G, Crane DJ, Cregg JM, Dodt G, Fujiki Y, Goodman JM, Just WW, Kiel JA, Kunau WH, Lazarow PB, Mannaerts GP, Moser HW, Osumi T, Rachubinski RA, Roscher A, Subramani S, Tabak HF, Tsukamoto T, Valle D, van der Klei I, van Veldhoven PP, Veenhuis M (1996) A unified nomenclature for peroxisome biogenesis factors. Journal of Cell Biology 135, 1-3
- Dodt G, Warren D, Becker E, Rehling P, Gould SJ (2001) Domain mapping of human PEX5 reveals functional and structural similarities to Saccharomyces cerevisiae Pex18p and Pex21p. Journal of Biological Chemistry 276, 41769-41781
- Dunn B, Ferea T, Spellman P, Schwarz J, Terraciano J, Troyanovich J, Walker S, Greene J, Shaw K, DiDomenico B, Wang Q, Kaloper M, Metzner S, Chung E, Bondre C, Venteicher A, Botstein D, Brown P (2004) Genetic footprinting: A functional analysis of the *S. cerevisiae* genome. *SGD Curated Paper*, pers. comm. to SGD
- Eckert JH, Erdmann R (2003) Peroxisome biogenesis. Reviews in Physiology and Biochemical Pharmacology 147, 75-121
- Erdmann R, Blobel G (1995) Giant peroxisomes in oleic acid-induced Saccharomyces cerevisiae lacking the peroxisomal membrane protein Pmp27p. Journal of Cell Biology 128, 509-523
- Erdmann R, Schliebs W (2005) Peroxisomal matrix protein import: the transient pore model. *Nature Reviews in Molecular Cell Biology* **6**, 738-742
- Erdmann R, Veenhuis M, Mertens D, Kunau WH (1989) Isolation of peroxisome-deficient mutants of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 86, 5419-5423
- Eura Y, Ishihara N, Yokota S, Mihara K (2003) Two mitofusin proteins, mammalian homologues of FZO, with distinct functions are both required for mitochondrial fusion. *Journal of Biochemistry (Tokyo)* 134, 333-344
- Fagarasanu A, Fagarasanu M, Eitzen GA, Aitchison JD, Rachubinski RA (2006) The peroxisomal membrane protein Inp2p is the peroxisome-specific receptor for the myosin V motor Myo2p of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Developmental Cell 10, 587-600
- Fagarasanu M, Fagarasanu A, Tam YY, Aitchison JD, Rachubinski RA (2005) Inp1p is a peroxisomal membrane protein required for peroxisome inheritance in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Journal of Cell Biology 169, 765-775
- Fannjiang Y, Cheng WC, Lee SJ, Qi B, Pevsner J, McCaffery JM, Hill RB, Basanez G, Hardwick JM (2004) Mitochondrial fission proteins regulate programmed cell death in yeast. *Genes and Development* 18, 2785-2797
- Farre JC, Subramani S (2004) Peroxisome turnover by micropexophagy: an autophagy-related process. *Trends in Cell Biology* 14, 515-523
- Fransen M, Vastiau I, Brees C, Brys V, Mannaerts GP, van Veldhoven PP (2005) Analysis of human Pex19p's domain structure by pentapeptide scanning mutagenesis. *Journal of Molecular Biology* 346, 1275-1286
- Griffin EE, Graumann J, Chan DC (2005) The WD40 protein Caf4p is a component of the mitochondrial fission machinery and recruits Dnm1p to mitochondria. *Journal of Cell Biology* **170**, 237-248
- Guo T, Kit YY, Nicaud JM, Le Dall MT, Sears SK, Vali H, Chan H, Rachubinski RA, Titorenko VI (2003) Peroxisome division in the yeast *Yarrowia*

lipolytica is regulated by a signal from inside the peroxisome. *Journal of Cell Biology* **162**, 1255-1266

- Harry E, Monahan L, Thompson L (2006) Bacterial cell division: the mechanism and its precison. *International Review of Cytology* 253, 27-94
- Hayashi M, Nishimura M (2003) Entering a new era of research on plant peroxisomes. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* **6**, 577-582
- Hoepfner D, Schildknegt D, Braakman I, Philippsen P, Tabak HF (2005) Contribution of the endoplasmic reticulum to peroxisome formation. *Cell* 122, 85-95
- Hoepfner D, van den Berg M, Philippsen P, Tabak HF, Hettema EH (2001) A role for Vps1p, actin, and the Myo2p motor in peroxisome abundance and inheritance in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Journal of Cell Biology 155, 979-990
- Imoto M, Tachibana I, Urrutia R (1998) Identification and functional characterization of a novel human protein highly related to the yeast dynamin-like GTPase Vps1p. *Journal of Cell Science* **111 (Pt 10)**, 1341-1349
- Issemann I, Green S (1990) Activation of a member of the steroid hormone receptor superfamily by peroxisome proliferators. *Nature* 347, 645-650
- Jedd G, Chua NH (2002) Visualization of peroxisomes in living plant cells reveals acto-myosin-dependent cytoplasmic streaming and peroxisome budding. *Plant and Cell Physiology* 43, 384-392
- Karren MA, Coonrod EM, Anderson TK, Shaw JM (2005) The role of Fis1p-Mdv1p interactions in mitochondrial fission complex assembly. *Jour*nal of Cell Biology 171, 291-301
- Kawamoto S, Nozaki C, Tanaka A, Fukui S (1978) Fatty acid beta-oxidation system in microbodies of *n*-alkane-grown *Candida tropicalis*. *European Journal of Biochemistry* **83**, 609-613
- Keller GA, Krisans S, Gould SJ, Sommer JM, Wang CC, Schliebs W, Kunau W, Brody S, Subramani S (1991) Evolutionary conservation of a microbody targeting signal that targets proteins to peroxisomes, glyoxysomes, and glycosomes. *Journal of Cell Biology* 114, 893-904
- Kiel JA, Veenhuis M, van der Klei IJ (2006) PEX genes in fungal genomes: common, rare or redundant. *Traffic* 7, 1291-1303
- Kim PK, Mullen RT, Schumann U, Lippincott-Schwartz J (2006) The origin and maintenance of mammalian peroxisomes involves a *de novo* PEX16-dependent pathway from the ER. *Journal of Cell Biology* **173**, 521-532
- Koch A, Schneider G, Luers GH, Schrader M (2004) Peroxisome elongation and constriction but not fission can occur independently of dynamin-like protein 1. *Journal of Cell Science* 117, 3995-4006
- Koch A, Thiemann M, Grabenbauer M, Yoon Y, McNiven MA, Schrader M (2003) Dynamin-like protein 1 is involved in peroxisomal fission. *Journal* of Biological Chemistry 278, 8597-8605
- Koch A, Yoon Y, Bonekamp NA, McNiven MA, Schrader M (2005) A role for Fis1 in both mitochondrial and peroxisomal fission in mammalian cells. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* **16**, 5077-5086
- Kotwaliwale C, Biggins S (2006) Microtubule capture: a concerted effort. *Cell* **127**, 1105-1108
- Kunau WH (2005) Peroxisome biogenesis: end of the debate. Current Biology 15, R774-776
- Kuravi K, Nagotu S, Krikken AM, Sjollema K, Deckers M, Erdmann R, Veenhuis M, van der Klei IJ (2006) Dynamin-related proteins Vps1p and Dnm1p control peroxisome abundance in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Journal* of Cell Science 119, 3994-4001
- Lametschwandtner G, Brocard C, Fransen M, Van Veldhoven P, Berger J, Hartig A (1998) The difference in recognition of terminal tripeptides as peroxisomal targeting signal 1 between yeast and human is due to different affinities of their receptor Pex5p to the cognate signal and to residues adjacent to it. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **273**, 33635-33643
- Lazarow PB, Black V, Shio H, Fujiki Y, Hajra AK, Datta NS, Bangaru BS, Dancis J (1985) Zellweger syndrome: biochemical and morphological studies on two patients treated with clofibrate. *Pediatric Research* 19, 1356-1364
- Lazarow PB, Fujiki Y (1985) Biogenesis of peroxisomes. Annual Review of Cellular Biology 1, 489-530
- Leao AN, Kiel JA (2003) Peroxisome homeostasis in *Hansenula polymorpha*. *FEMS Yeast Res* **4**, 131-139
- Lee YJ, Jeong SY, Karbowski M, Smith CL, Youle RJ (2004) Roles of the mammalian mitochondrial fission and fusion mediators Fis1, Drp1, and Opa1 in apoptosis. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* 15, 5001-5011
- Lemberger T, Saladin R, Vazquez M, Assimacopoulos F, Staels B, Desvergne B, Wahli W, Auwerx J (1996) Expression of the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha gene is stimulated by stress and follows a diurnal rhythm. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 271, 1764-1769
- Li X, Baumgart E, Dong GX, Morrell JC, Jimenez-Sanchez G, Valle D, Smith KD, Gould SJ (2002a) PEX11α is required for peroxisome proliferation in response to 4-phenylbutyrate but is dispensable for peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor α-mediated peroxisome proliferation. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 22, 8226-8240
- Li X, Baumgart E, Morrell JC, Jimenez-Sanchez G, Valle D, Gould SJ (2002b) PEX11 beta deficiency is lethal and impairs neuronal migration but does not abrogate peroxisome function. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 22, 4358-4365
- Li X, Gould SJ (2002) PEX11 promotes peroxisome division independently of peroxisome metabolism. *Journal of Cell Biology* 156, 643-651
- Li X, Gould SJ (2003) The dynamin-like GTPase DLP1 is essential for peroxisome division and is recruited to peroxisomes in part by PEX11. Journal

of Biological Chemistry 278, 17012-17020

- Lin Y, Sun L, Nguyen LV, Rachubinski RA, Goodman HM (1999) The Pex16p homolog SSE1 and storage organelle formation in Arabidopsis seeds. *Science* 284, 328-330
- Lingard MJ, Trelease RN (2006) Five Arabidopsis peroxin 11 homologs individually promote peroxisome elongation, duplication or aggregation. *Journal* of Cell Science 119, 1961-1972
- Liu J, Aoki M, Illa I, Wu C, Fardeau M, Angelini C, Serrano C, Urtizberea JA, Hentati F, Hamida MB, Bohlega S, Culper EJ, Amato AA, Bossie K, Oeltjen J, Bejaoui K, McKenna-Yasek D, Hosler BA, Schurr E, Arahata K, de Jong PJ, Brown RH Jr. (1998) Dysferlin, a novel skeletal muscle gene, is mutated in Miyoshi myopathy and limb girdle muscular dystrophy. *Nature Genetics* **20**, 31-36
- Lorenz P, Maier AG, Baumgart E, Erdmann R, Clayton C (1998) Elongation and clustering of glycosomes in *Trypanosoma brucei* overexpressing the glycosomal Pex11p. *The EMBO Journal* 17, 3542-3555
- Maier AG, Schulreich S, Bremser M, Clayton C (2000) Binding of coatomer by the PEX11 C-terminus is not required for function. *FEBS Letters* 484, 82-86
- Mano S, Nakamori C, Kondo M, Hayashi M, Nishimura M (2004) An Arabidopsis dynamin-related protein, DRP3A, controls both peroxisomal and mitochondrial division. *Plant Journal* 38, 487-498
- Marelli M, Smith JJ, Jung S, Yi E, Nesvizhskii AI, Christmas RH, Saleem RA, Tam YY, Fagarasanu A, Goodlett DR, Aebersold R, Rachubinski RA, Aitchison JD (2004) Quantitative mass spectrometry reveals a role for the GTPase Rho1p in actin organization on the peroxisome membrane. *Journal of Cell Biology* **167**, 1099-1112
- Marshall PA, Dyer JM, Quick ME, Goodman JM (1996) Redox-sensitive homodimerization of Pex11p: a proposed mechanism to regulate peroxisomal division. *Journal of Cell Biology* 135, 123-137
- Marshall PA, Krimkevich YI, Lark RH, Dyer JM, Veenhuis M, Goodman JM (1995) Pmp27 promotes peroxisomal proliferation. *Journal of Cell Biology* 129, 345-355
- McGuinness MC, Wei H, Smith KD (2000) Therapeutic developments in peroxisome biogenesis disorders. *Expert Opinion in Investigative Drugs* 9, 1985-1992
- McNeil PL, Steinhardt RA (2003) Plasma membrane disruption: repair, prevention, adaptation. Annual Review of Cellular and Developmental Biology 19, 697-731
- McNew JA, Goodman JM (1996) The targeting and assembly of peroxisomal proteins: some old rules do not apply. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* 21, 54-58
- Moser AB, Rasmussen M, Naidu S, Watkins PA, McGuinness M, Hajra AK, Chen G, Raymond G, Liu A, Gordon D, Garnaas K, Walton DS, Skjeldal OH, Guggenheim MA, Jackson LG, Elias ER, Moser HW (1995) Phenotype of patients with peroxisomal disorders subdivided into sixteen complementation groups. *Journal of Pediatrics* 127, 13-22
- Mozdy AD, McCaffery JM, Shaw JM (2000) Dnm1p GTPase-mediated mitochondrial fission is a multi-step process requiring the novel integral membrane component Fis1p. *Journal of Cell Biology* 151, 367-380
- Mullen RT, Flynn CR, Trelease RN (2001) How are peroxisomes formed? The role of the endoplasmic reticulum and peroxins. *Trends in Plant Science* 6, 256-261
- Naylor K, Ingerman E, Okreglak V, Marino M, Hinshaw JE, Nunnari J (2006) Mdv1 interacts with assembled Dnm1 to promote mitochondrial division. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 281, 2177-2183
- Neer EJ, Schmidt CJ, Nambudripad R, Smith TF (1994) The ancient regulatory-protein family of WD-repeat proteins. *Nature* **371**, 297-300
- Nguyen T, Bjorkman J, Paton BC, Crane DI (2006) Failure of microtubulemediated peroxisome division and trafficking in disorders with reduced peroxisome abundance. *Journal of Cell Science* 119, 636-645
- Novikoff PM, Novikoff AB (1972) Peroxisomes in absorptive cells of mammalian small intestine. *Journal of Cell Biology* **106**, 532-560
- Nunnari J, Walter P (1996) Regulation of organelle biogenesis. Cell 84, 389-394
- Okumoto K, Itoh R, Shimozawa N, Suzuki Y, Tamura S, Kondo N, Fujiki Y (1998) Mutations in PEX10 is the cause of Zellweger peroxisome deficiency syndrome of complementation group B. *Human Molecular Genetics* 7, 1399-1405
- Orth T, Reumann S, Zhang X, Fan J, Wenzel D, Quan S, Hu J (2007) The PEROXIN11 protein family controls peroxisome proliferation in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell* **19**, 333-350
- Otzen M, Krikken AM, Ozimek PZ, Kurbatova E, Nagotu S, Veenhuis M, van der Klei IJ (2007) In the yeast *Hansenula polymorpha*, peroxisome formation from the ER is independent of Pex19p, but involves the function of p24 proteins. *FEMS Yeast Research* 6, 1157-1166
- Passreiter M, Anton M, Lay D, Frank R, Harter C, Wieland FT, Gorgas K, Just WW (1998) Peroxisome biogenesis: involvement of ARF and coatomer. *Journal of Cell Biology* 141, 373-383
- Pastori GM, Del Rio LA (1997) Natural senescence of pea leaves (an activated oxygen-mediated function for peroxisomes). *Plant Physiology* 113, 411-418
- Peters C, Baars TL, Buhler S, Mayer A (2004) Mutual control of membrane fission and fusion proteins. *Cell* **119**, 667-678
- Pinsky BA, Kotwaliwale CV, Tatsutani SY, Breed CA, Biggins S (2006) Glc7/protein phosphatase 1 regulatory subunits can oppose the Ipl1/aurora protein kinase by redistributing Glc7. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 26,

2648-2660

- Purdue PE, Lazarow PB (2001) Peroxisome biogenesis. Annual Review of Cellular and Developmental Biology 17, 701-752
- Rapaport D, Brunner M, Neupert W, Westermann B (1998) Fzo1p is a mitochondrial outer membrane protein essential for the biogenesis of functional mitochondria in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 273, 20150-20155
- Reinders J, Zahedi RP, Pfanner N, Meisinger C, Sickmann A (2006) Toward the complete yeast mitochondrial proteome: multidimensional separation techniques for mitochondrial proteomics. *Journal of Proteome Research* 5, 1543-1554
- Romberg L, Levin PA (2003) Assembly dynamics of the bacterial cell division protein FTSZ: poised at the edge of stability. *Annual Review of Microbiology* 57, 125-154
- Rottensteiner H, Hartig A, Hamilton B, Ruis H, Erdmann R, Gurvitz A (2003a) Saccharomyces cerevisiae Pip2p-Oaf1p regulates PEX25 transcription through an adenine-less ORE. European Journal of Biochemistry 270, 2013-2022
- Rottensteiner H, Kal AJ, Hamilton B, Ruis H, Tabak HF (1997) A heterodimer of the Zn2Cys6 transcription factors Pip2p and Oaf1p controls induction of genes encoding peroxisomal proteins in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *European Journal of Biochemistry* 247, 776-783
- Rottensteiner H, Kramer A, Lorenzen S, Stein K, Landgraf C, Volkmer-Engert R, Erdmann R (2004) Peroxisomal membrane proteins contain common Pex19p-binding sites that are an integral part of their targeting signals. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* **15**, 3406-3417
- Rottensteiner H, Stein K, Sonnenhol E, Erdmann R (2003b) Conserved function of Pex11p and the novel Pex25p and Pex27p in peroxisome biogenesis. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* 14, 4316-4328
- Sacksteder KA, Jones JM, South ST, Li X, Liu Y, Gould SJ (2000) PEX19 binds multiple peroxisomal membrane proteins, is predominantly cytoplasmic, and is required for peroxisome membrane synthesis. *Journal of Cell Biology* 148, 931-944
- Scheufler C, Brinker A, Bourenkov G, Pegoraro S, Moroder L, Bartunik H, Hartl FU, Moarefi I (2000) Structure of TPR domain-peptide complexes: critical elements in the assembly of the Hsp70-Hsp90 multichaperone machine. *Cell* 101, 199-210
- Schluter A, Fourcade S, Ripp R, Mandel JL, Poch O, Pujol A (2006) The evolutionary origin of peroxisomes: an ER-peroxisome connection. *Molecular and Biological Evolution* 23, 838-845
- Schrader M, Burkhardt JK, Baumgart E, Luers G, Volkl A, Fahimi HD (1996) The importance of microtubules in determination of shape and intracellular distribution of peroxisomes. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 804. 669-671
- Schrader M, Reuber BE, Morrell JC, Jimenez-Sanchez G, Obie C, Stroh TA, Valle D, Schroer TA, Gould SJ (1998) Expression of PEX11β mediates peroxisome proliferation in the absence of extracellular stimuli. *Journal* of Biological Chemistry 273, 29607-29614
- Scott I, Tobin AK, Logan DC (2006) BIGYIN, an orthologue of human and yeast FIS1 genes functions in the control of mitochondrial size and number in Arabidopsis thaliana. Journal of Experimental Botany 57, 1275-1280
- Shimizu M, Takeshita A, Tsukamoto T, Gonzalez FJ, Osumi T (2004) Tissue-selective, bidirectional regulation of PEX11 alpha and perilipin genes through a common peroxisome proliferator response element. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 24, 1313-1323
- Shimizu N, Itoh R, Hirono Y, Otera H, Ghaedi K, Tateishi K, Tamura S, Okumoto K, Harano T, Mukai S, Fujiki Y (1999) The peroxin Pex14p. cDNA cloning by functional complementation on a Chinese hamster ovary cell mutant, characterization, and functional analysis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 274, 12593-12604
- Smirnova E, Griparic L, Shurland DL, van der Bliek AM (2001) Dynaminrelated protein Drp1 is required for mitochondrial division in mammalian cells. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* 12, 2245-2256
- Smith JJ, Marelli M, Christmas RH, Vizeacoumar FJ, Dilworth DJ, Ideker T, Galitski T, Dimitrov K, Rachubinski RA, Aitchison JD (2002) Transcriptome profiling to identify genes involved in peroxisome assembly and function. *Journal of Cell Biology* 158, 259-271
- South ST, Gould SJ (1999) Peroxisome synthesis in the absence of preexisting peroxisomes. *Journal of Cell Biology* 144, 255-266
- Stojanovski D, Johnston AJ, Streimann I, Hoogenraad NJ, Ryan MT (2003) Import of nuclear-encoded proteins into mitochondria. *Experimental Physiology* 88, 57-64
- Subramani S (1993) Protein import into peroxisomes and biogenesis of the organelle. Annual Review of Cell Biology 9, 445-478
- Subramani S (1998) Components involved in peroxisome import, biogenesis, proliferation, turnover, and movement. *Physiology Reviews* 78, 171-188
- Suzuki M, Jeong SY, Karbowski M, Youle RJ, Tjandra N (2003) The solution structure of human mitochondria fission protein Fis1 reveals a novel TPR-like helix bundle. *Journal of Molecular Biology* 334, 445-458
- Tabak HF, Braakman I, Distel B (1999) Peroxisomes: simple in function but complex in maintenance. *Trends in Cell Biology* 9, 447-453
- Tabak HF, Murk JL, Braakman I, Geuze HJ (2003) Peroxisomes start their life in the endoplasmic reticulum. *Traffic* **4**, 512-518
- **Tam YY, Rachubinski RA** (2002) *Yarrowia lipolytica* cells mutant for the PEX24 gene encoding a peroxisomal membrane peroxin mislocalize peroxisomal proteins and accumulate membrane structures containing both peroxi-

somal matrix and membrane proteins. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* 13, 2681-2691

- Tam YY, Torres-Guzman JC, Vizeacoumar FJ, Smith JJ, Marelli M, Aitchison JD, Rachubinski RA (2003) Pex11-related proteins in peroxisome dynamics: a role for the novel peroxin Pex27p in controlling peroxisome size and number in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Molecular Biology of the Cell 14, 4089-4102
- Tanaka A, Okumoto K, Fujiki Y (2003) cDNA cloning and characterization of the third isoform of human peroxin Pex11p. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 300, 819-823
- Tieu Q, Nunnari J (2000) Mdv1p is a WD repeat protein that interacts with the dynamin-related GTPase, Dnm1p, to trigger mitochondrial division. *Journal* of Cell Biology 151, 353-366
- Tieu Q, Okreglak V, Naylor K, Nunnari J (2002) The WD repeat protein, Mdvlp, functions as a molecular adaptor by interacting with Dnmlp and Fislp during mitochondrial fission. *Journal of Cell Biology* 158, 445-452
- Titorenko VI, Smith JJ, Szilard RK, Rachubinski RA (2000) Peroxisome biogenesis in the yeast Yarrowia lipolytica. Cellular and Biochemical Biophysics 32 (Spring), 21-26
- van den Bosch H, Schutgens RB, Wanders RJ, Tager JM (1992) Biochemistry of peroxisomes. Annual Review of Biochemistry 61, 157-197
- van der Bliek AM (2000) A mitochondrial division apparatus takes shape. Journal of Cell Biology 151, F1-4
- Vater CA, Raymond CK, Ekena K, Howald-Stevenson I, Stevens TH (1992) The VPS1 protein, a homolog of dynamin required for vacuolar protein sorting in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, is a GTPase with two functionally separable domains. *Journal of Cell Biology* **119**, 773-786
- Veenhuis M, Harder W, van Dijken JP, Mayer F (1981) Substructure of crystalline peroxisomes in methanol-grown *Hansenula polymorpha*: evidence for an *in vivo* crystal of alcohol oxidase. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 1, 949-957
- Veenhuis M, Mateblowski M, Kunau WH, Harder W (1987) Proliferation of microbodies in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Yeast 3, 77-84
- Veenhuis M, van Dijken JP, Pilon SA, Harder W (1978) Development of crystalline peroxisomes in methanol-grown cells of the yeast *Hansenula polymorpha* and its relation to environmental conditions. *Archives of Microbiology* 117, 153-163
- Vizeacoumar FJ, Torres-Guzman JC, Bouard D, Aitchison JD, Rachubinski RA (2004) Pex30p, Pex31p, and Pex32p form a family of peroxisomal integral membrane proteins regulating peroxisome size and number in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Molecular Biology of the Cell 15, 665-677
- Vizeacoumar FJ, Torres-Guzman JC, Tam YY, Aitchison JD, Rachubinski RA (2003) YHR150w and YDR479c encode peroxisomal integral membrane proteins involved in the regulation of peroxisome number, size, and distribution in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Journal of Cell Biology 161, 321-332
- Vizeacoumar FJ, Vreden WN, Aitchison JD, Rachubinski RA (2006) Pex19p binds Pex30Pand Pex32p at regions required for their peroxisomal localization but separate from their peroxisomal targeting signals. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 281, 14805-14812
- Vodermaier HC, Gieffers C, Maurer-Stroh S, Eisenhaber F, Peters JM (2003) TPR subunits of the anaphase-promoting complex mediate binding to the activator protein CDH1. *Current Biology* **13**, 1459-1468
- Voncken F, van Hellemond JJ, Pfisterer I, Maier A, Hillmer S, Clayton C (2003) Depletion of GIM5 causes cellular fragility, a decreased glycosome number, and reduced levels of ether-linked phospholipids in trypanosomes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 278, 35299-35310
- Wanders RJ (2004) Metabolic and molecular basis of peroxisomal disorders: a review. American Journal of Medical Genetics A 126, 355-375
- Wanders RJ, Waterham HR (2006) Biochemistry of mammalian peroxisomes revisited. *Annual Review of Biochemistry* **75**, 295-332
- Warren G, Wickner W (1996) Organelle inheritance. Cell 84, 395-400
- Wei H, Kemp S, McGuinness MC, Moser AB, Smith KD (2000) Pharmacological induction of peroxisomes in peroxisome biogenesis disorders. *Annals of Neurology* 47, 286-296
- Wong ED, Wagner JA, Scott SV, Okreglak V, Holewinske TJ, Cassidy-Stone A, Nunnari J (2003) The intramitochondrial dynamin-related GTPase, Mgm1p, is a component of a protein complex that mediates mitochondrial fusion. *Journal of Cell Biology* 160, 303-311
- Yan M, Rayapuram N, Subramani S (2005) The control of peroxisome number and size during division and proliferation. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* 17, 376-383
- Yasunaga S, Grati M, Cohen-Salmon M, El-Amraoui A, Mustapha M, Salem N, El-Zir E, Loiselet J, Petit C (1999) A mutation in OTOF, encoding otoferlin, a FER-1-like protein, causes DFNB9, a nonsyndromic form of deafness. *Nature Genetics* 21, 363-369
- Yoon Y, Krueger EW, Oswald BJ, McNiven MA (2003) The mitochondrial protein hFis1 regulates mitochondrial fission in mammalian cells through an interaction with the dynamin-like protein DLP1. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 23, 5409-5420
- Yoon Y, Pitts KR, Dahan S, McNiven MA (1998) A novel dynamin-like protein associates with cytoplasmic vesicles and tubules of the endoplasmic reticulum in mammalian cells. *Journal of Cell Biology* 140, 779-793
- Yu T, Fox RJ, Burwell LS, Yoon Y (2005) Regulation of mitochondrial fission and apoptosis by the mitochondrial outer membrane protein hFis1. *Journal of Cell Science* 118, 4141-4151